RECEIVED

May 09 2022

SC Court of Appeals

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

Appellate Case No. 2021-000457

The Honorable Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge

The State of South Carolina.....Respondent,

v.

Christopher P. Cooper.....Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Elizabeth Franklin-Best
SC Appellate Law Group, LLC
SC Bar #72555
2725 Devine Street
Columbia, South Carolina 29205
(803) 445-1333

Counsel for Appellant

Other Counsel:

Mark Farthing
South Carolina Attorney General's Office
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3372

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the trial court erred in not allowing Appellant to offer evidence that the purported victim approached Appellant's brother and requested money when that evidence was relevant and was admissible to impeach her testimony pursuant to SCRE, Rule 404(b)
- II. The trial court erred in not suppressing Appellant's statements when they were involuntarily given to law enforcement.
- III. The trial court judge erred in allowing the complainant to testify that she recognized Appellant's voice from the bond hearing since the identification procedure was unnecessarily suggestive and conducive to irreparable misidentification.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Christopher P. Cooper was indicted by the Lexington County grand jury for burglary, 1st degree, 2017-GS-32-3587, kidnapping, 2017-GS-32-3589, armed robbery, 2017-GS-32-3588, possession of a firearm during a violent crime, 2017-GS-32-3591, criminal conspiracy, 2017-GS-32-3592, and criminal sexual conduct, 1st degree, 2017-GS-32-3590 during its November 2017 term. He was tried before the Honorable Craig Brown and a jury in April 2021. Appellant was represented by Theo and Anna Williams. The State was represented by Heather Weiss and Megan Raymer of the South Carolina Attorney General's Office. Appellant was convicted and sentenced to life in prison.

This appeal timely follows.

Relevant Facts

Appellant was tried along with his co-defendant and cousin, Craig Cooper for the home invasion of a suspected drug dealer and then the rape of his girlfriend. In connection with its investigation of the crime, law enforcement spoke to Craig Cooper who was identified as being present at the scene due to a CODIS hit. ROA 639. Craig Cooper told law enforcement that Appellant was with him during these crimes. ROA 146, 701. Initially, law enforcement pursued two other suspects. ROA 637-38.

Law enforcement located Appellant at his family's car dealership and he returned to the West Columbia police station with them. There, he was interrogated and ultimately offered a statement that implicated himself in the crime. Law enforcement also identified Appellant's DNA on a paper towel found in the home. ROA 1001.

At trial, Craig Cooper, who initially had agreed to cooperate with law enforcement and testify against Christopher Cooper, invoked his rights under the Fifth Amendment and refused to testify. ROA 555.

What the jury did not hear, and is discussed in greater detail below, is that after this purported home invasion, the complainant approached Appellant's brother and requested money.

Appellant did not testify at trial and the defense did not offer any witnesses.

Appellant was subsequently convicted.

ARGUMENTS

- I. **The trial court erred in not allowing Appellant to offer evidence that the purported victim approached Appellant's brother and requested money when that evidence was relevant and was admissible to impeach her testimony pursuant to SCRE, Rule 404(b).**

Prior to the start of trial, the State motioned to suppress "any allegation of bribery." ROA, ll. 20-21¹. The State offered the court what it believed the allegations consisted of. In short, the State informed the court that after these events allegedly occurred, Appellant's brother went to the strip club where the complainant works. According to the state, the two recognized one another immediately. ROA 110. According to the state, Appellant's brother offered her money. She became upset and called her husband. A bouncer at the strip club did not remove Appellant's brother from the business. The complainant then sent an email to the Solicitor's Office informing them of the incident. The complainant then went to Appellant's brother's business and leaves him her telephone number. They talk. According to the state, she asked the brother why he was at her place of business. ROA 110. Then, according to the state, he offered her money. She then sent an email to the solicitor's office informing them that she was no longer scared and that she was sorry she wasted the solicitor's office's time. ROA 111, ll. 9-16. According to the state, "they kept meeting." ROA 111, l. 22. At some point, Appellant's brother alleged she was attempting to

¹ The state also argued to suppress motions relating to the arrests of the complainant's husband, any mention of gonorrhea or chlamydia from the complainant's medical records, and to prevent the jury from hearing that she worked as a stripper at Platinum West. ROA 102-108.

bribe him. ROA 112. According to the state's version of events, the complainant never agreed to change her story or that she would drop the charges. ROA 112. Investigator Taylor of the Lexington County Sheriff's Office investigated the issue. ROA 112.

The state argued to suppress any mention of this entire incident because it was unrelated to the home invasion crime and therefore irrelevant. ROA 113-14.

Defense counsel argued it would be relevant for impeaching her testimony under SCRE, Rule 404. ROA 115, ll. 12-18. Defense counsel offered the court his version of these events. He explained Appellant's brother saw the complainant at the strip club. He left her a tip, but she disappeared. When he returned to his place of business at the car dealership, there was a note from the complainant with her telephone number on it. ROA 115-16. She and her sister and come to his place of employment and asked him to call her. There were multiple discussions about money. ROA 116. Appellant's brother reported this to the solicitor's office who then had Kate Usry investigate the matter. They referred the matter to the West Columbia Police Department. ROA 116. Appellant's brother tried to get direction from law enforcement as to whether he should pay her the money or not. ROA 117.

Trial counsel argued it was relevant to the complainant's character:

Judge, its' a question of fact for the jury in regards to her character only. The big reason why this is important, Your Honor, is that, obviously, in *State v. Finley*, which is a 1989 case, an old case,² dealing with extortion. It was a sex case, believe it or not, like a sexual rape case. And they found that they could talk about what had occurred by this-- the guy was

² *State v. Finley*, 300 S.C. 196, 387 S.E.2d 88 (1989).

going to testify that he had had sex with her or something like-- which is terrible; it was in violation of the rape shield statute.

But they allowed the case to come in because it felt like it was establishing motive, bias, and prejudice on the part of the prosecuting witnesses.

ROA 117, l. 13- 118, l. 1.

Trial counsel also relied on *Vanover v. State*³ to support the admissibility of the evidence. ROA 118. The state continued to argue this matter would "muddy the waters." ROA 122, ll. 10-13. Defense counsel informed the court that both the complainant and her sister made recordings of their conversations with the Appellant's brother. ROA 124. The state informed the court there were also recordings of what Appellant's brother told Hamp Taylor (an investigator) about what happened, and what Appellant's brother told Stan Smith of the Richland County Sheriff's Department about what happened. ROA 125. Attorney Willie Bradley is also a witness to these events. ROA 125. Trial counsel argued:

MR. WILLIAMS: ... I'm a pretty straight guy. I think there was talk of money. And I think that the impression, clear impression, from my client, was that if he-- from my client's brother, I should say, that if he paid her like \$25,000 and these charges were going to go away, he was going to help in some way.

The e-mail deal comes in because that was presented as evidence that she was trying to help. I don't know why the email comes in except for that reason. It's like some song and dance going on between these two parties, Your Honor. Clearly, one party didn't trust the other party; there's no question about that.

ROA 126, ll. 13-25.

³ *Vanover v. State*, 433 S.C. 31, 856 S.E.2d 160 (Ct. App. 2021).

The court took the issue under advisement. ROA 131-32. Later, the judge granted the State's motion to suppress any mention of the bribery scheme. ROA 254-260.

Defense counsel later proffered the testimony that he would have testified to had the information been allowed by the judge. ROA 459.

Appellant's brother testified that he met the complainant on or about July 10, 2018. ROA 460. He had been at the strip club, Platinum West, when the complainant came up to him. They realized they recognized one another. She stood up and went to the back. After ten minutes, she came back out and approached another customer. He left the club. ROA 461. The next day he attended a car auction. When he returned to his car dealership, there was a note on his desk from the complainant with her telephone number. He called the number and she said she would be back in 10 minutes. ROA 461.

Ten minutes later, the complainant and her sister showed up with a baby. The other woman asked him how would he feel if something like this happened to someone in his family. ROA 461. The complainant then jumped in and said, "listen, I need \$25,000, and I'll help your brother." ROA 462, ll. 1-2. He told her he did not have \$25,000 but that he could probably come up with \$10,000. ROA 462. She got up and told him that when he came up with the money, he should call her. ROA 462, ll. 8-10.

The complainant called back and again and told Appellant's brother that her husband wanted to meet with him. They met over at Bojangles. ROA 462. He told

Appellant's brother that he knew everything about him, and where he lived. He told him he was "connected" and that he "could have something done to you." He then told Appellant's brother that if he gave them \$10,000 and a car that they were "going to go away." ROA 463. They shook hands and afterwards Appellant's brother reached out to law enforcement. He first spoke with Stacy Turner of the West Columbia Police Department. ROA 463.

The next day, the complainant reached back out to Appellant's brother and said she had a "good faith" gesture to show him. He met with her at Bojangles and she showed him her phone. She showed him an email she sent to the victim's advocate. ROA 464-65. Appellant's brother then said he reached out to Ms. Turner again. ROA 465. Turner never returned his call. He ended up speaking to other law enforcement officers from Lexington. Appellant's brother met with them at Willie Bradley's office. ROA 466. At some point he learned they had closed the file on the issue. ROA 467.

The State did not offer any witnesses and the court did not revisit its ruling. ROA 487.

The trial court erred in not allowing Appellant to use this evidence of bribery or extortion to impeach the complainant because it was relevant and probative of the complainant's credibility. Craig Cooper initially gave law enforcement a statement indicating the two of them met up with the complainant for purposes of having a consensual sexual encounter. ROA 521, 798. Given the jury was asked to determine whether the sexual contact was consensual or not, evidence the complainant

attempted to extort money from Appellant's family was critically important in assessing her credibility.

In *State v. Finley*, the complainant there attempted to extort the appellant which was captured on a tape recording. The complainant testified that the appellant's girlfriend had called her and told her she would pay her \$1000 to drop the charges. The complainant, however, called the appellant's girlfriend (which was tape recorded without the complainant's knowledge) and offered to drop the charges in exchange for \$1000 (she wanted \$20 that night). Appellant's counsel in *Finley* sought to introduce the tape recording to impeach the complainant's testimony. The judge ruled it was inadmissible because it was irrelevant and improper. The Court held the evidence was admissible because it was relevant on the issues of (1) whether the appellant tried to obstruct justice, or (2) whether the prosecuting witness was attempting to extort money. *Finley*, 300 S.C. at 199. "It is well settled that evidence is relevant and admissible if it tends to establish or make more or less probable some matter in issue and to bear directly or indirectly thereon. The evidence need not be sufficient in itself to establish the whole or any definite portion of a party's contention." *Id.* See also *Associate Management, Inc. v. E.D. Sauls Construction Company*, 279 S.C. 219, 305 S.E.2d 236 (1983); *Gause v. Livingston*, 251 S.C. 8, 159 S.E.2d 604 (1968); *Drayton v. Industrial Life & Health Ins. Co.*, 205 S.C. 98, 31 S.E.2d 148 (1944); *S.C. Department of Social Services v. Bacot*, 280 S.C. 485, 313 S.E.2d 45 (S.C. Ct. App. 1984). See also *Commonwealth v. Corcoran*, 252 Mass. 465, 148 N.E. 123 (1925) (finding a general plot or scheme to obtain money by threats to accuse

persons of a crime bears on the credibility of a witness). The trial court abused its discretion by finding this testimony was inadmissible, and Appellant asks this Court to reverse his convictions and sentence.

II. The trial court erred in not suppressing Appellant's statements when they were involuntarily given to law enforcement.

Prior to the start of trial, the parties held a *Jackson v. Denno*⁴ hearing. ROA 146. Jody Lee Putney, a narcotics investigator from West Columbia Police Department testified. He was instructed to locate Appellant at Reunited Auto Sales. ROA 147. he went back to the police station with the officers. ROA 148. Putney and Investigator Morris placed him in an interview room. Putney testified they read him his Miranda rights. ROA 148. Investigator Morris was the lead investigator. ROA 149. Putney testified that Appellant did not ask for help, he was not threatened, and he did not request to use the bathroom. ROA 149-50. Putney drop to the car dealership with Investigator Todd. ROA 153. Putney was likely wearing a suit and tie when he retrieved Appellant. ROA 154. Putney did not have any independent recall of his trip to pick up Appellant. ROA 155. Putney indicated there "might" have been communication with Appellant during the ride to West Columbia. ROA 158. He could not recall if he was a witness to the interrogation. ROA 159. Investigator Todd was not in the interrogation room. ROA 159. Putney testified he was only there for the Miranda statement. ROA 160.

⁴ 378 U.S. 368 (1964)

Investigator Christopher Morris also testified. ROA 162. He was the lead investigator on the case. He testified they developed Craig Cooper as a suspect based on a DNA Codis hit. ROA 163. After he interrogated Craig Cooper, he wanted to talk with Appellant. ROA 164.

Morris testified it is the policy of West Columbia Police Department not to record suspect interviews. ROA 166. If the person being interviewed cannot read or write, they will use alternative methods of video and audio recording. ROA 167.⁵ Captain Bruce Wade indicated they did not record statements due to the budget. ROA 751. He testified the decision not to record has been in place since before he started working there, in 2005. ROA 763. There is a camera in the interrogation room, but apparently it is only a live feed from that room to a supervisor's office. ROA 167-68. Morris and Putney were in the room to speak with Appellant first. ROA 168. Morris was disarmed, per policy. ROA 168.

The Miranda form appeared to have been filled out at 4:54pm on August 1, 2017. ROA 171. It was close to the time that the officers would be getting off work. ROA 171. Morris testified he could not recall how long the interrogation took place but that he believed it was no longer than "a couple hours." ROA 173, l. 8. There

⁵ *But see* Lexington County man sentenced to 45 years for domestic violence murder where Marion C. Wilkes confessed to murdering his wife during an interview with Captain Bruce Wade of the West Columbia Police Department and his audio recorded confession was admitted at trial. <http://https://www.abccolumbia.com/2018/03/02/lexington-county-man-sentenced-45-years-domestic-violence-murder/> (*last visited* September 7, 2021). Morris testified he had been with the Columbia Police Department for 9 years, so certainly he would have known that confessions were recorded in at least one other case. ROA 161.

were no breaks taken during the interrogation. ROA 173. At some point, Putney left the room. ROA 178. Captain Wade entered the room. ROA 179. He was not present when Morris took the statement from Appellant. ROA 188.

Investigator Morris was the only person who witnessed Appellant's statement. ROA 192. There were two witnesses on the complainant's statement. ROA 192. Morris claimed Appellant never asked to have a lawyer present. ROA 195. Even though he present for the entire interrogation, he had "no idea" whether Captain Wade came into the interrogation room, slammed a copy of Craig Cooper's statement on the desk and told him Craig Cooper would get a better deal than Appellant would. ROA 195.

Appellant testified during the *Jackson v. Denno* hearing. ROA 197. Appellant stated he told the officers who came to the car dealership that he did not have anything to say and that he wanted a lawyer. ROA 197-98. Once they got to the police department, he told Putney he needed a lawyer with him. ROA 198. Appellant testified Putney keep trying to pull him out a little bit. ROA 198, l. 9. Then, the third officer entered the interrogation room "guns blazing, yelling--." ROA 198, l. 12. One of the officers threatened Appellant-- "He was, oh, well, had it been me, you know, I'd have killed you, you know, this, that, and the third... ROA 199, ll. 5-10.

Appellant testified:

I don't have a clue what you're talking about, sir, but I need a lawyer present. It's a totally different world for me. I was just taken from work into an interrogation room. Super nervous. He left. I was still holding to it, my word of needing a lawyer present. He went. And I guess that's his supervisor that he went and got. Supervisor came in there with a totally different tone--

ROA 199, ll. 12-20.

After meeting with Captain Wade, Appellant testified he had to be escorted to the restroom because he lost his bowels. ROA 201. Appellant reiterated that he asked for a lawyer but that the officers would not listen. ROA 200-201. He was provided his Miranda warnings after he was taken to booking, and after they obtained a buccal swab from him. ROA 201-202.

A criminal defendant is deprived of due process if his conviction is founded, in whole or in part, upon an involuntary confession. *Jackson v. Denno*, 378 U.S. 368, 377 (1964). "This principle is best justified when viewed as part and parcel of 'fundamental notions of fairness and justice in the determination of guilt or innocence which lie embedded in the feelings of the American people and are enshrined in the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.'" *State v. Pittman*, 373 S.C. 527, 565, 647 S.E.2d 144, 164 (2007) (quoting *Haley v. Ohio*, 332 U.S. 596, 607 (1948) (Frankfurter, J., concurring)).

In determining whether a confession was given "voluntarily," this Court must consider the totality of the circumstances surrounding the defendant's giving the confession. *Schneckloth v. Bustamonte*, 412 U.S. 218, 226 (1973). As the United States Supreme Court has indicated, the totality of the circumstances includes "the youth of the accused, his lack of education or his low intelligence, the lack of any advice to the accused of his constitutional rights, the length of detention, the repeated and prolonged nature of the questioning, and the use of physical punishment such as the deprivation of food or sleep." *Id.* (internal citations omitted). No one factor is

determinative, but each case requires careful scrutiny of all surrounding circumstances. *Id. See also State v. Moultrie*, 273 S.C. 60, 254 S.E.2d 294 (1979) (a waiver of *Miranda* rights is determined by the totality of the circumstances).

Once an accused requests counsel, police interrogation must cease unless the accused himself "initiates further communication, exchanges, or conversations with the police." *Edwards v. Arizona*, 451 U.S. 477, 485 (1981). Interrogation is the express questioning, or its functional equivalent which includes "words or actions on the part of the police... that the police should know are reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response." *State v. Sims*, 304 S.C. 409, 417, 405 S.E.2d 377, 381 (1991) (citing *Rhode Island v. Innis*, 446 U.S. 291, 301 (1980)).

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