RECEIVED

May 09 2022

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lexington County
Honorable D. Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2021-000457

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

CHRISTOPHER P. COOPER,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

III.

Any issue with the admission of the voice identification evidence was not properly preserved for appellate review because—instead of objecting—defense counsel acquiesced in the trial judge’s ruling on the matter, did not object to the evidence when it was presented to the jury, and then personally elicited cumulative testimony from the victim. Moreover, notwithstanding any issue preservation concerns, the trial judge properly allowed the voice identification evidence to be introduced because sufficient testimony was presented to demonstrate the victim was able to recognize Appellant’s voice after hearing her assailants’ voices during the incident.

Appellant contends on appeal the trial judge reversibly erred by permitting Victim to testify about an out-of-court identification she made after hearing Appellant’s voice. As support for that contention, Appellant maintains the identification evidence should not have been admitted because the “identification procedure” used was purportedly unnecessarily suggestive and conducive to irreparable misidentification in light of the fact Victim recognized Appellant’s voice as the voice of one her assailants at Appellant’s bond hearing. Initially, Appellant’s current challenge to the voice identification evidence was not properly preserved for appellate review because defense counsel acquiesced in the trial judge’s ruling, did not end up objecting to the evidence, and elicited cumulative testimony on the matter. Moreover, even if the issue had been preserved, the trial judge did not abuse his broad discretion by allowing the introduction of the voice identification evidence because sufficient testimony was introduced to demonstrate Victim was familiar with her assailants’ voices and was able to recognize Appellant’s voice as the voice of one of her assailants when she heard Appellant speak at the bond hearing.¹⁶

Appellant’s convictions should be affirmed.

¹⁶ Beyond that, even assuming the trial judge somehow erred by permitting Victim to testify about how she recognized Appellant’s voice at the bond hearing as the voice of the skinnier of her assailants, any error related to the admission of that testimony was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because the other evidence presented during trial, which included statistically-powerful DNA evidence linking Appellant to the incident and a handwritten-and-signed confession from Appellant himself, overwhelmingly linked Appellant to the charged crimes and

Relevant Facts

Throughout the frightening incident, both the fatter intruder and skinnier intruder spoke to each other in Victim's presence and also spoke to Victim directly. (R. p. 359; p. 361; pp. 364-365; pp. 366-368; p. 371; p. 373; pp. 375-376). Based on that, Victim was able to hear their voices multiple times, and she was able to distinguish between their voices because one's sounded older while the other's sounded younger.¹⁷ (R. p. 361; p. 437).

Later on, Appellant was arrested in connection to the incident, and he made an appearance at a bond hearing in an effort to obtain release on bond. (R. p. 407; p. 680). During that hearing, Victim, who was in attendance, heard Appellant speak, and, when she did, she recognized his voice as the voice of her skinnier assailant. (R. pp. 418-419; p. 437).

Subsequently, during trial, Victim recounted the details of the harrowing home invasion, robbery, and sexual assault, and she confirmed she both remembered the voice of the skinnier

established his guilt in a manner entirely independent from the voice identification evidence. See State v. Gathers, 295 S.C. 476, 480-481, 369 S.E.2d 140, 143 (1988) (finding an error to be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt in light of the overwhelming evidence of the appellant's guilt); see also Arizona v. Fulminante, 499 U.S. 279, 296 (1991) ("A confession is like no other evidence. Indeed, the defendant's own confession is probably the most probative and damaging evidence that can be admitted against him[.]" (citations and internal quotations)); cf. State v. Hardin, 425 S.C. 1, 15, 819 S.E.2d 177, 184 (Ct. App. 2018) (finding the erroneous admission of out-of-court identification evidence was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because "the State also presented substantial evidence independently establishing Hardin's participation in the T-Mobile armed robbery"). Under such circumstances, any error that possibly could have been committed in connection to the admission of the voice identification evidenced was harmless and could have had no impact on the outcome of Appellant's case. See State v. Bryant, 369 S.C. 511, 518, 633 S.E.2d 152, 156 (2006) ("[A]ppellate courts will not set aside convictions due to insubstantial errors not affecting the result."); State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989) ("When guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached, the Court should not set aside a conviction because of insubstantial errors not affecting the result."); cf. State v. Tench, 353 S.C. 531, 537, 579 S.E.2d 314, 317 (2003) ("Given the abundant evidence of Tench's guilt, we find any error in admission of the seized items clearly harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.").

¹⁷ Notably, Appellant was more than a decade younger than Craig. (R. p. 468; pp. 1128).

man who perpetrated those crimes and had heard it again at “bond court.” (R. p. 407).

Immediately in response to that testimony, defense counsel requested an in camera hearing, and the trial judge obliged that request. (R. pp. 407-408).

Once the jury was out of the courtroom, defense counsel asserted he objected to Victim’s voice identification testimony on the grounds no procedure was done to see whether Appellant’s voice “sounded like this person versus another person.”¹⁸ (R. p. 408). In response to that assertion, the trial judge noted Rule 901 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence specifically stated voice identification was a proper method of authentication and, thus, explained he believed Victim could identify Appellant’s voice after recognizing it during the bond hearing based on that rule. (R. pp. 408-409). The trial judge then asked defense counsel if he disagreed with his interpretation, and defense counsel responded: “I think that’s exactly what that rule says, Judge.” (R. p. 410).

Following that, the prosecutor indicated she intended to next ask Victim if she could identify anyone in the courtroom connected to the voice she had heard, and defense counsel asserted he did not believe a foundation for such a question had yet been established in light of the testimony Victim had presented up to that point. (R. p. 410). In response, the trial judge explained: “Well, [Victim] can testify to that, if she, in fact, heard it in the courtroom. And if she heard it in the courtroom, can you identify the person that that voice came from? And then she can identify your client.” (R. p. 410). Upon hearing that explanation, defense counsel remarked: “That would be accurate, Your Honor, if she says that.” (R. p. 410).

¹⁸ Defense counsel also alleged the testimony put Appellant’s character into issue by indicating he had been arrested, but, in raising that allegation, defense counsel conceded the fact Appellant had been arrested was already known. (R. p. 408).

Thereafter, the jury returned to the courtroom, and Victim resumed her testimony. (R. p. 418). As her testimony continued, Victim explained the skinnier assailant’s voice was distinct from the fatter assailant’s voice, she heard the skinner man’s voice at a bond hearing, she saw who was speaking when she heard that voice, and—*without* objection—she positively identified Appellant in the courtroom as the speaker. (R. pp. 418-419). Furthermore, Victim confirmed she was certain of her identification and believed there was “no question” Appellant’s voice was the voice of her skinnier assailant. (R. p. 419). Defense counsel then questioned Victim on cross-examination, and, in doing so, he personally elicited cumulative testimony from her about her identification of Appellant by voice.¹⁹ (R. pp. 420-421; p. 437). After that, the prosecutor elicited additional testimony on the matter from Victim, and Victim—again without objection—confirmed Appellant’s voice matched the voice of the skinnier intruder. (R. pp. 456-457).

Analysis

A. Absence of Proper Issue Preservation

In South Carolina, issue preservation requirements are a fundamental component of appellate procedure. Gaddy v. Douglass, 359 S.C. 329, 350, 597 S.E.2d 12, 23 (Ct. App. 2004). Amongst the requirements for preserving an issue for appeal in our state, the most basic and fundamental one is an issue must be raised to and ruled upon by a trial judge before it can properly be presented for appellate review. State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693 (2003). Significantly, unless an error is both presented to and ruled upon by the trial judge,

¹⁹ Significantly, by eliciting testimony from Victim on cross-examination concerning her out-of-court identification of Appellant, defense counsel rendered the testimony elicited by the State on that subject wholly cumulative. See State v. Blackburn, 271 S.C. 324, 329, 247 S.E.2d 334, 337 (1978) (“Under settled principles, the admission of improper evidence is harmless where it is merely cumulative to other evidence.”); cf. State v. Pickrell, 435 S.C. 417, 446-447, 867 S.E.2d 465, 481 (Ct. App. 2021) (finding any error in the admission of testimony challenged on direct examination was harmless in part based on the fact it was cumulative to evidence elicited by defense counsel on cross-examination).

it cannot be raised to the appellate court to be ruled upon for the first time on appeal. State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 135, 620 S.E.2d 737, 742 (2005).

Similarly, even if a party properly raises an objection during trial, a party may still waive his right to argue error in regard to that objection on appeal under certain circumstances. See State v. O’Neal, 210 S.C. 305, 312, 42 S.E.2d 523, 526 (1947) (recognizing a previously-raised objection can be waived). Amongst the ways a party can do so, a party can waive an objection by eliciting similar testimony to testimony to which the party previously raised an objection or by acquiescing in the trial judge’s ruling on the objection. See State v. Mitchell, 330 S.C. 189, 195, 498 S.E.2d 642, 645 (1998) (instructing an appellant cannot complain on appeal about a particular ruling if the appellant acquiesces to that ruling during trial); O’Neal, 210 S.C. at 312, 42 S.E.2d at 526 (“An objection to the admission of evidence is waived where the same or similar evidence has been elicited by the objector.”).

In the present case, defense counsel asked the trial judge to conduct a hearing outside the presence of the jury after Victim indicated she heard the voice of the skinnier of her two assailants at “bond court.” During the course of that hearing, defense counsel initially appeared to begin to object to the admission of any voice identification evidence based on the fact no procedure was employed to compare different voices. Critically though, the trial judge responded to defense counsel’s remarks by explaining why he believed evidence of a voice identification could properly be admitted during Appellant’s trial, and, after hearing that explanation, defense counsel indicated to the trial judge he believed what the trial judge had said was correct. See State v. Bryant, 372 S.C. 305, 315-316, 642 S.E.2d 582, 588 (2007) (recognizing a matter conceded in the circuit court cannot subsequently be argued on appeal). Following that, defense counsel did *not* raise any objections when Victim testified before the

jury on both direct and redirect examination about her recognition of Appellant’s voice as the voice of one of her assailants, and, instead of doing so, defense counsel personally elicited cumulative testimony from Victim on the exact same subject on cross-examination. See State v. Washington, 315 S.C. 108, 110, 432 S.E.2d 448, 449 (1993) (“Appellant may not now be heard to complain of the admission of evidence elicited by his own counsel.”); O’Neal, 210 S.C. at 312, 42 S.E.2d at 526 (explaining a party waives an objection to evidence by eliciting the same or similar evidence); In re Walter M., 386 S.C. 387, 392, 688 S.E.2d 133, 136 (Ct. App. 2009) (“Generally, an issue must be both raised to and ruled upon by the trial court in order to be preserved for appellate review.”).

Accordingly, because defense counsel acquiesced in the trial judge’s ruling, did not object to Victim’s testimony about her recognition of Appellant’s voice, and personally elicited cumulative testimony from Victim, Appellant’s current appellate challenge to the voice identification evidence’s introduction was not properly preserved for appellate review and cannot now appropriately be considered or addressed on appeal. See Ex parte McMillan, 319 S.C. 331, 335, 461 S.E.2d 43, 45 (1995) (finding a party cannot acquiesce to a ruling on an issue during trial and then complain of an error with the issue on appeal); cf. Mitchell, 330 S.C. at 195, 498 S.E.2d at 645 (“The trial judge ruled [Mitchell] could ask Erway if she had pending charges, but could not ‘go into those specific charges.’ [Mitchell]’s counsel’s response was, ‘Right.’ Because counsel acquiesced in the judge’s limitation of his cross-examination, and made no other objections regarding wanting the criminal files, [Mitchell] cannot now complain about this issue.”). Appellant’s convictions should be affirmed.²⁰

²⁰ Furthermore, to the extent Appellant maintains—for the first time on appeal—a “full vetting” was necessary before the voice identification evidence could be admitted, no such argument was presented to the trial judge, and, therefore, such an argument cannot now properly be raised or

B. Admissibility of the Voice Identification Evidence

In South Carolina, a witness's testimony identifying a person via familiarity with the person's voice has long been permitted as legitimate and competent evidence for the purpose of establishing identity. State v. Plyler, 275 S.C. 291, 294, 270 S.E.2d 126, 127-128 (1980); see State v. Porter, 251 S.C. 393, 398, 162 S.E.2d 843, 846 (1968) ("It is a matter of common knowledge that a person may be recognized and identified by his voice."). Importantly, expertise or special training is *not* needed for such testimony to be admissible. State v. Smith, 307 S.C. 376, 386, 415 S.E.2d 409, 415 (1992). Instead, voice identification testimony is ordinarily admissible so long as sufficient evidence is presented to demonstrate the witness's recognition of the person's voice. Plyler, 275 S.C. at 294-294, 270 S.E.2d at 128.

Notably, in State v. Stewart, 275 S.C. 447, 451, 272 S.E.2d 628, 630 (1980), our Supreme Court addressed an issue involving the admission of voice identification evidence. In that case, a masked man committed a robbery of a restaurant with several employees present. Id. at 449, S.E.2d at 629. Roughly two weeks later, Stewart was identified as the perpetrator of the crime from a physical line-up by one of the employees. Id. Later on, during a court proceeding that took place approximately six months after the robbery, Stewart spoke in the presence of the witnesses to the robbery. Id. at 451, 272 S.E.2d at 630. When he did, the witnesses "unequivocal[ly]" recognized his voice and identified him as the robber. Id. Subsequently, during Stewart's trial, the witnesses testified about identifying Stewart as the robber by his voice with certainty based on their opportunity to hear the robber's voice during the crime. Id. On

considered on appeal. See State v. Patterson, 324 S.C. 5, 19, 482 S.E.2d 760, 767 (1997) ("Appellant is limited to the grounds raised at trial."); State v. Vang, 353 S.C. 78, 85, 577 S.E.2d 225, 228 (Ct. App. 2003) (finding any issue resulting from the trial judge's failure to take a particular action was not preserved for appellate review because Vang did not ask the trial judge during trial to take the action Vang contended on appeal should have been taken).

appeal, Stewart challenged the admission of that testimony, but the Supreme Court affirmed. Id. In doing so, the Supreme Court concluded the trial judge properly admitted that testimony because the totality of the circumstances—including the witnesses’ explanations regarding the certainty of their identification after hearing Stewart’s voice during the prior court proceeding—demonstrated the reliability of the evidence.

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